Figure 1: Facebook post by Mina Le on July 16, 2020 summarizing Evans’s and Jennifer’s unethical behavior
while creating their renegade organization and organizing the Virtual World Cup.
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Here's my distillation of my friend Dave Koenig's posts (splenetic.net/the-
crucible and splenetic.net/the-fallout), along with my responses to the
criticisms:

There was a messy breakup, with bad behavior on both sides. Evidence is
presented so that you know he's not a monster. No, it's not ideal to
publish private communications, but he could see no other way to clear
his name, and truly intimate details about the other party have been
omitted. No, he's not still hung up on the events of 2016-17; he's just
going into this level of detail in order to set the record straight.

MNow that we've established in Part | that Dave is not a monster, we get to
the meat of this story in Part [l, namely that Dave has paid
disproportionate social consequences in the Scrabble world as though he
*were* some kind of monster. *It is because of these disproportionate
social consequences that he wrote these essays, aimed at the Scrabble
community.*

CoCo has monopolized Collins Scrabble play in his part of the country,
and they have crystallized a rule that he may not play unless neither Jenn
nor Evans is organizing or directing. How could this rule possibly be
justified? We know, from reading Part Il, that Jenn is no longer afraid of
Dave. If she can come up to him unbidden at the cocktail hour for a
mutual friend’s wedding, when she could have just remained on the other
side of the beach, then she can tolerate him at a tournament. It is also
evident, from reading Part Il if from nothing else, that Dave would pose no
plausible threat to Jenn or Evans at future tournaments. So the only
reason for his express exclusion would be Evans’ personal resentment. Is
this reasonable? Do you like the premises of such a Scrabble
organization?

Dave was excluded a priori (meaning, whether he would have liked to join
or not) from CoCo's Virtual World Cup. This online tournament has been
touted as a replacement for the Alchemist Cup. But Dave would have
gualified to represent the U.5. at the Alchemist Cup. You can't argue with
a straight face that he could possibly poison the atmosphere at an online
tournament. Now do you want to support the Virtual World Cup?



Figure 2: Email banning me from playing in the online Woogles club run by Jennifer’s and Evans’s
organization, and follow-up discussion with Cesar del Solar, Mina Le, and Brian Bowman. Included in this email
chain is the entirety of an email that Becky Dyer sent to Mina Le in response to Mina questioning the ban.

CoCo club participation Inbox x S e @
) Collins Coalition <info@cocoscrabble.org= Feb 26,2021, 3:30 AM ¥ & :
. tome -

February 26th, 2021
Dave,

We are sending this email on behalf of the CoCo online clubs. After discussion, it was unanimously decided that continuing
to allow you to participate in CoCo online club play would not be consistent with our organization’s commitment to providing
our players a safe and harassment-free environment.

You will no longer be permitted to attend any CoCo online clubs, specifically the two occurring on Tuesday and Saturday. If
you do attempt to attend any CoCo online clubs, the director will not enter you into the pairings. This goes into effect now,
and is effective indefinitely.

One of the CoCo's founding principles is the importance of creating a welcoming and harassment-free environment. As
stated in our mission, we are committed to fostering a safe community. That commitment means that we take action to
protect members of our community from harassment and threats made by other players. See the CoCo website; specifically,
sections fitled "Who We Are" and "Policies.”

Mote that directors for the CoCo have discretion to consider all relevant information for decisions of this nature, not just
events that happen during club sessions.

Sincerely,
Becky Dyer, Geoff Thevenot, and Peter Armstrong

Online club directors for the CoCo

e Dave Koenig Feb26,2021, 9:37TAM Yy &}

to Mina, cesar «
Hi Cesar,

Do you have records of the club room chats and games from the CoCo clubs on Woogles to be able to see if anything
untoward happened in the club sessions | attended? I'm not aware of anything | did to provoke this.

Sincerely,
Dave



Mina Le Feb 26,2021, 951AM Sy H
o me, cesar «

This is completely batshit insane, Dave! I wonder if Woogles could inform CoCo that they are not allowed to use Woogles as
a platform for discrimination against people they don't like. Will brainstorm other solutions...do you have ideas?

Mad on your behalf,
Mina

aae

Dave Koenig Feb 26, 2021,10:13AM  §7 & H
to Mina, cesar -

| think the only member of the club I've even had any private messages with was Becky, and in my memory they have been
totally benign, as has my chat in the club room and the games (the latter of which has been very little.) In the club room, I've
just talked about Scrabble games and | have never addressed Jennifer or Evans. | played in just one game on a Saturday
session (against Cesarl) the first time, and then | went back to | think just one more Saturday session, and neither Jennifer
or Evans were even in attendance at those two.

This Tuesday was my first time ever playing in a Tuesday session, and | played eight of the ten games but had to step out
for a couple of games in the middle. When the directors were figuring out pairings in the beginning, they said something
about missing a player. | clicked on the button to see who was in the room, and | didn't see Evans listed there, but someone
had said something earlier in the chat suggesting that he was there. So | said, "l don't see Evans. is he blocking me?" That's
literally the only thing | said about it. Someone else said that he was there. | didn't respond, never addressed it, and just
played my games.

The group chats are public for anyone who goes to the club room anyway, though there's a limit to how far back you can
scroll. | would be fine with openly publishing all of the CoCo club group chat during all of the time that | went to sessions as
well as all of my chats with my opponents from every game | played in the club and all of my private chats with Becky
{which | don't think included anything private or personal nor even anything about CoCo club) as well as the full contents of
that email to the world.

As far as | can see, the case of me harassing anyeone here is completely nonexistent, and I'd be happy to hold up a mirror
so they and the rest of the world can see the full extent of their behavior.

Sincerely,
Dave

T



————— Forwarded messages -
from: Mina Le
to:  Becky Dyer
bee:  david
date: Feb 28, 2021, 11:33 AM
subject:  Unjust exclusion

Dear Becky,

| was aggrieved to learn that Dave Koenig has been banned from CoCo club in perpetuity, presumably because he and Jennifer
Clinchy had a bad breakup and Evans continues to hold a grudge about it.

The circumstances that led to Dave being deemed a "harasser” have been publicly published. What is clear to readers of the full
story is that his actions -- those of an angry, desperate, spurned off-and-on lover - did not meet the legal definition of harassment.
He does not deserve to be branded as one or treated as one.

| have trouble imagining how anyone could feel unsafe while sitting in the same online club room as Dave, where he could not so
much as broach anyone's physical personal space or look at them askance. His behavior in CoCo club to date has also been
spotless, and as his personal friend | can vouch for his character.

Won't it bring CeCo PR trouble, as well, when people learn that the directors are banning players simply because they personally
dislike them?

Thank you for your consideration,

Mina

likely to continue to do so. I'm sorry that you feel that is a good use of your valuable time. | would respectfull

ask you to consider whether there might be better activities to undertake.

-—-—-- End forwarded messages —-—-—-—--

I have no desire to fight this, but I do think that what they did to me should be a matter of public record. I am still pondering how and
when I am going to deal with it, but [ wanted to loop you both in on the conversation sooner. I am just beginning to think about writing a
part 3 of my Splenetic blog in which I address this, though I'm thinking that I might be able to approach this with a much more
humorous tone than my previous blog entries.

Mina and I were also pondering the idea of starting a Monday evening Collins Scrabble club on Woogles, and I proposed the name
"Don't be a Dictionary” for the name of the elub.

I'm eurious to get your thoughts and insights into this, and I'd welcome a phone or video chat from either of you if you think it's worth it,
or even a group one if we could schedule it. I do not want to get into a pissing contest with them, but I do want to have a place to play
with other Collins Scrabble players, and I want other people to have a place to go if they do not want to support CoCo.

Sincerely,
Dave



Dave Koenig Feb 26, 2021, 10:17TAM ¥y & H
to Mina, cesar «

| might be miscounting the sessions. | definitely played only one game against Cesar the first time | went to their club, but
that might have been on a weeknight, and then | might have gone to two Saturday sessions. But this week was definitely my
first time at a Tuesday session beyond just a one-off game against Cesar, and | don't think I've attended mare than four in
total. Mot that any of this is salient, but | just didn't want to say anything inaccurate.

César Del Solar Feb 26,2021, 1125PM ¥y 4
to me, Mina -

e

Hi Dave, we only have records of the last 100 chats in the club room (we can go further back a bit more in the backend but
the chat is ephemeral) and game chats expire after a few days. I'm sure you have not done anything untoward at club, this
whole thing is messed up - | really don't like this. In the email they specifically say "all relevant information" and not just
events that happen during club, so I'm sure it's still from the grudge. | think we played one game on a Tuesday, yes, a few
weeks ago, as part of the club, and it counted in the club standings (which are now scrubbed of your user id...). Il bring up
this situation to the team but | don't think we can force them to let you play in their club honestly. The large majority of
people in that club are probably fine with playing you. | would honestly just try to start another club and continue playing in
the other weekly clubs.

Cesar

Dave Koenig Feb 26,2021, 128PM ¥y 4 H
to Cesar, Mina =

| don't want to force them to let me play in their club. | don't want to play in their club specifically because they have done
this. | just want everyone to know what they have done.

César Del Solar Feb 26,2021, :31PM ¥ 4 H
to me, Mina «

| agree - from my look at the chats there's nothing harassing you did.

e



Dave Koenig Mar 2, 2021, T:55PM  §¢ € H
to me , Brian, cesar, Mina

Dear Marsha, Brian, Cesar, and Mina,

I'm pulling both Marsha and Brian into a conversation that I've already been having with Mina and Cesar, so let me catch you up on the
story.

I've been playing online on a few different clubs on Woaogles, mostly on Wednesdays at the Valley Virtual club and Thursdays at the
Channel 275 club. CoCo is running a Woogles club on Saturdays during the day and Tuesday evenings. | stopped by near the end of a
Tuesday session several weeks ago and played one game against Cesar. | believe that at least one of Jennifer or Evans might have
been in attendance at that time, but | had no interaction with them. | just spoke up in the chat room about getting paired and that was all.
It was a bit of an after the fact pairing as we were originally odd and then Cesar joined in so | could get a game, but they did include it on
the standings on their website.

| then played in a couple of Sunday sessions for what | think was the full session. Meither Evans nor Jennifer were in attendance for
those Sunday sessions. Last Tuesday for the first time | played most of a Tuesday session, though | did have to depart for a couple of
games in the middle. | was chattier in the club chat room on these occasions, but all of my talk was very pleasant and just about
Scrabble games. | never addressed Evans or Jennifer in any way. The only exception to this was that at the beginning of the Tuesday
session, the director said something about there not being enough players. | clicked on the list to see who was in the room, and | did not
see Evans's name there, but someone else in the room had shortly before said something about him playing. So | said, "I don't see
Evans, is he blocking me?" That was it. | never addressed it again. One of the directors even followed up by saying that they didn't see
Evans there either, and then some other people said that he was there. He played during the evening, and | could see his games in
progress in the list, but | couldn't ever see him in the chat room. Jennifer wasn't even there at that point, though | believe she showed up
to the club later. | reiterate, | had no interaction with either of them, and my one question was the only time | said anything pertinent to
them. The rest of my chatter was just about Scrabble games.

On Friday | received the email | have forwarded below, banning me from CoCo's Woogles club. I'm embedding that email here and will
continue my narrative after it.

———— Forwarded message —-——-

From: Collins Coalition <info{fcocoscrabble org>
Date: Fri, Feb 26, 2021 at 9:30 AM

Subject: CoCo club participation

To: Dave Koenig

————— End Forwarded Message ———

After | received that email, | forwarded it to Mina and Cesar and had some conversation with them. Mina was incensed. At my request,
Cesar looked back through all of the chat records he had from CoCo club, and he judged that | did absolutely nothing untoward or
harassing in the club room.

Independently, Mina wrote an email to Becky Dyer, one of the Woogles tournament directors, and got a very nasty response. She has
given me permission to share them with you.



Brian Bowman Mar 4, 2021, 1211PM 1% & H
to makadabo, cesar, Mina, me «

Very disappeinting. | was hoping that the detente of “Dave can play CoCo events as long as Evans or Jen are not directing” would hold,
and neither are listed as directors on the Coco page (you might want to screenshot that). If they are going to formally ban you they
should just do it instead of leaning on their friends to informally blackball you.

| would be glad to join a Collins club on Mondays, though | would strongly prefer a more neutral name.

Sent from my iPad

On Mar 2, 2021, at 10:55 PM, Dave Koenig _ wrote:

"o



Figure 3: Text from Kenny threatening violence on me based on false accusations in December 2014.

Hey, Dave, this is Kenny.
Standupcomedyoke is in a
public bar, so | can't stop you
from going, but you are not
allowed to perform there as
long as I'm hosting. | have list
of names of guys, some who
have military training, others
who have connections to drug
dealers, all of whom are
stronger than me and better
fighters than me, and all who
have expressed their
enthusiasm for beating the
living shit out of you if you ever
try to lay a hand on Sarah
again. | got a guy in Florida
willing to fly up here to beat
your ass if you ever mess with
Sarah again. Or any other
woman who is too drunk to
give enthusiastic consent to
the pleasure of your company.
Yes, this is a threat. And when
you tell people about this
threat, tell them it's because

Ken

have expressed their
enthusiasm for beating the
living shit out of you if you ever
try to lay a hand on Sarah
again. | got a guy in Florida
willing to fly up here to beat
your ass if you ever mess with
Sarah again. Or any other
woman who is too drunk to
give enthusiastic consent to
the pleasure of your company.
Yes, this is a threat. And when
you tell people about this
threat, tell them it's because
we believe, as do a number of
other people, that you sexually
take advantage of drunk
women. Something most of us,
and the law, consider to be
rape. This is not a discussion.
It's not a debate. I'm not going
to respond to your messages.
I'm just telling you how it is

I'm sorry that you feel that way,
Kenny. | think you're badly

misconstruing the situation




Figure 4: Immediately after receiving the text from Kenny, | forwarded it via email to Sarah, who wrote me this
response. After this email, we followed up with a phone call in which she confirmed to me that she told Kenny
that | did nothing to hurt her, but he said, “it didn’t matter because he knew | did things to other women” though
he never named another woman. He continued to spread false rumors in 2020, though | had no connection to
him since 2014. These rumors were spread to Lola in late July or early August 2020, very shortly after she and
| had agreed to “make distance.”

Q sarah | I Sat,Dec 6, 2014, 10:MAM ¢ €

tome =

Ah jeez.

Although I didn't complain to anyone about you I think I know how this happened. Your recent interaction with a friend of mine on Thursday rubbed
him the wrong way and he must have talked to Kenny about it, who already doesn't favor you from some things he says he's heard about.

T'll try to smooth things over ...

Graphic Designer
c:
|13P\ease consider the environment before printing this email.

On Fri, Dec 5, 2014 at 9:41 PM, Dave Koenig _ wrote:

Kenny just sent me this text:

Hey, Dave, this is Kenny. Standupcomedyoke is in a public bar, so | can't stop you from going, but you are not allowed to perform there as long as I'm hosting. | have
list of names of guys, some who have military training, others who have connections to drug dealers, all of whom are stronger than me and better fighters than me, and
all who have expressed their enthusiasm for beating the living shit out of you if you ever try to lay a hand on Sarah again. | got a guy in Florida willing to fly up here to
beat your ass if you ever mess with Sarah again. Or any other woman who is too drunk to give enthusiastic consent to the pleasure of your company. Yes, this is a
threat. And when you tell people about this threat, tell them it's because we believe, as do a number of other people, that you sexually take advantage of drunk women.
Something most of us, and the law, consider to be rape. This is not a discussion. It's not a debate. I'm not going to respond to your messages. I'm just telling you how
itis

Sent from my iPhone



Figure 5: Facebook conversation with Cesar about doing Woogles development work, which started a few days
before the 2022 New Orleans Scrabble tournament.

? César Del Solar

Hey, | could probably help on Woogles back-end work

that would be awesome. we can coordinate on the Discord channel
“? (friends_of_woogles) -- are you on that channel?

No, but | can join it, after the New Orleans tourney

-

So I'm gonna be in Hawaii for a week starting this Friday. | think it probably makes
sense for me to defer working on Woogles backend stuff until after | get back from
that trip, if that's okay

? yeah of course, that sounds good
-

| don't know Discord very well, and | don't know how to find the friends_of woogles
channel, but I'm logged in at the moment as dewk

| think | need to be added to the channel

are you on the discord server?
the woogles one

it shows you as offline

I'm using the discord app on my linux desktop right now. | don't know if it shows
me as logged in or not, but | saw your chat over there and responded to it

Hi Dave, | don't know if this is going to work. Several people on the core team are
too uncomfortable with you contributing to the point that they actually threatened
to leave the team. | spoke up for you but it doesn’t seem tenable. Let me know if
you want to chat about it




? César Del Solar

I'm disgusted

Yeah | told them this is a community project. Maybe we can collaborate on other
things

I'm guessing it was Lola and Conrad who told you they would quit? Or were there
others?

What the actual fuck is going on?

I'm not happy with this and lost a lot of sleep over it

We can chat about it later if you want

| do not understand what alternate reality these people are living in and what they
believe about me, but in my opinion it is a huge insult to me to give any credence
to it whatsoever.

Feb &
"? As | said, | tried to speak up for you butl can't change their minds

I'm not asking you to change anyone's mind




Figure 6: Text from December 11, 2019, first mention of possibility of me visiting in January, more than a month
before | made the trip.

BriAnna

I'm feeling ambitious. My
friend Andy will try to get
video.

Dec 11, 2019, 11:34 PM

Good luck

| have ended up at the diviest
dive bar in town. If you come in
January, | will show you.

Everything's dumb.

Dec 19, 2019, 6:05 PM

o - @




Figure 7: Texts from January 9th, 2020 showing planning of trip to SLC.

There was a bit of overlapping conversation because of rapid texting here. “Hahaha” is a response to my joke
in the previous text, and “Probably. | don’t have...” is the response to my questions about visiting two texts
earlier. (The text in the last couple of screenshots is not important, but including them was the only way | could
get my phone to show the datestamp of these messages.)

BriAnna BriAnna

e - — g = -

game this season.

Yeah, that sounds super
productive. Especially since
I'm half dead, sitting at work
wondering when I'm going to
actually start writing code.

It's usually pretty easy from
Boise on, but | have no idea
what the roads look like
between Boise and Seattle. If
you fly, the Trax (light rail)
goes straight from the airport
Hahaha. Probably. | don't have to where 1 live downtown.
anything on my calendar for 1

that weekend. | think that ' The station is a block from me.

works.

| have a friend that usually has
a good party. We can wander
to that if it sounds worthwhile. |
have kind of let go of football
the last couple years. Don't
think | watched a single NFL




BriAnna

m N
- U‘HMJ

whate driving. Lyft just sent rie
thair "year in review" emai and
it sa.d | took 142 ridesast year.
At firsu. | panicked bt then |
realizea that at an.average of
$10 aride, it's liks a quarter of
what I'm paying for my car and
it's insurance, and it's just
sitting in the/paiking garage. |
have to drixe to to see
my familv'every othor
weekenrd, but other tihan that,
it's suCh a waste of mcney. |
thin!'1'm going to pay it off
wity my bonus... but I'll
p:obably still keep it.

It's snowing here, too, but it

o m #Cash ‘ /E@j»

BriAnna

| riate driving. Lyft just sent rie
theiryear in review" emaiand
it said 1'took 142 rides las year.
At first, | panicked but 2nen |
realized tha..at an avzrage of
$10 aride, it's\like 7 quarter of
what I'm paying fer my car and
it's insurance, ar.Ciit's just
sitting in the piirking garage. |
have to drive/o to see
my family every other
weekend/out other than :hat,
it's suck a waste of money, |
think/ m going to pay it off
witk'my bonus... but I'll
riobably still keep it.

[t's'anowing here, toayout it
does thavwit... not really
stighing though.

Jan 9, 2020, 12:40 PM

o m ®Cash ‘ /G@j'




Figure 8: Texts from January 23rd & 27th showing planning of trip.

BriAnna BriAnna

Good point

Okay. Have fun.

Jan 27, 2020, 10:46 AM

That works. | have to work a
half day on Friday, but then we

usually have a pretty boozy Cool. Tomorrow later on for
lunch and then play pool the sure. Tonight, not sure yet,

rest of the afternoon. trying to figure out whether I'm
going to a movie with a friend
who's bad at making plans.

Shit. | just realized that
Sundance will be going on
while you're here. Have you
looked at room rates?
Shouldn't be too insane at the
end of the festival but it's hard
to say.




Figure 9: Texts from January 29th-January 30th showing her canceling trip for illness after | was already en
route.

BriAnna BriAnna

Before you begin your journey;, Jan 30, 2020, 7:33 AM
| feel like | should warn you |
feel a cold/flu type thing
coming on. This could be a

super not fun weekend.

Ugh. Woke up definitively quite
sick. Cough like a garbage
disposal and losing my voice. |
strongly encourage you to turn
back or go to Portland or
California for the weekend
instead. | am going to be zero
fun and you don't want to
catch this.

Jan 29, 2020, 8:00 PM

Yeah. Should be fine.

Thanks, me too

Jan 30, 2020, 7:33 AM

i
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Figure 10: Texts from February 7th about making a trip elsewhere together after we had called off the January

30th SLC trip to illness.

BriAnna

2:29 PM

We're not going to Seattle or
Salt Lake. We're going
somewhere else. But where?!?

Not yet

Long story

Feb 7, 2020, 9:56 PM

O - @ &
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Figure 11: Texts from February 13, showing proposal of Puerto Rico trip.

BriAnna BriAnna

Oooh. | very much like that
idea.

| got 3 hours of sleep last night
though. So | should probably

No. | have joke writing club, nap first before | commit.

then trivia,

Then karaoke if I'm still alive

Haha. Yep. Next Wednesday is
comedy. | wrote an alcoholism
set.

Feb 13, 2020, 1:15 PM

Feb 13, 2020, 3:59 PM

| got stuck at work too long
and am now afraid to fuck up
my sleep schedule with a nap,
so I'll decide first thing in the

Oooh. | very much like that enlirie -

O -~ @ &




Figure 12: Texts from February 14th confirming Puerto Rico trip.

BriAnna

Feb 14, 2020, 7:11 AM

Okay. Let's go to Puerto Rico.

That works

I'll update my vacation request

Okay, cool

A )
O @ O




Figure 13: Texts from March 8th-9th, showing us planning our trip to Puerto Rico shortly before we left, which
includes romantic emojis from both of us. She’d been using romantic emoijis with me since February 20th.

BriAnna BriAnna

Mar 9, 2020, 2:22 AM

@

Mar 9, 2020, 12:41 PM

Andy's recs are: Oceanos for
dinner

If you happen to still be up, I'm La faptoria for drinking and
home. dancing

- La Factoria is like two blocks
from our hotel. Oceanos is in

Condado.

Mar 8, 2020, 11:28 PM

Mar 9, 2020, 2:22 AM

0O® - @ 5




Figure 14: Texts from immediately after returning to our homes after Puerto Rico trip. The screenshot was
about a COVID outbreak in her apartment building.

BriAnna BriAnna

Seriously. We had it all wrong. |
Mar 17, 2020 should have come to Seattle.
Blech. On the ground now.
Hopefully my building smells
strongly of bleach when |
arrive. | had my own row, too.

Thanks again for the amazing
week! Good luck with the
social distancing.

Good luck with the hunting and
gathering.




BriAnna

Mar 19,

How are you feeling today?

Work computer is dead again,
so it doesn't seem to be the
power setup as much as the
machine. Feeling pretty
healthy. Got ready for work like
it was 2019. In the grogginess
and aftershock chaos last
night | created my own new
but easily surmounted crisis,
but I'll tell you that story
another time. Any word on how
Simon is feeling?

)
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BriAnna

Virtual hugs. | was terrified and
crying an hour or so before we
chatted yesterday. And this
morning, during crisis 723. It's
what | was trying to say on the
call. It's not the isolation when
everything's fine, but when
things are really terrible and
scary, it's hard to be all on your
own. | have like 25 games
going with strangers to distract
myself.

° % &Cash 1‘ E@j
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Figure 15: Texts from March 19th, two days after returning from Puerto Rico trip.

BriAnna

twitter.com

Aw. We had babies on
conference calls, too.

You should video call your
sister. Super helpful.

Wish | were there

[ A )
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Figure 16: March 28th texts featuring us joking about my angry rants, while | was worried | had caught a cough
that might have been COVID.

There is no context either in this screenshot nor in many pages before or afterward to indicate that | was
talking about anyone specific when | said “somebody.” There is no discussion about Scrabble anywhere near
this part of our text message history and only discussion about COVID and our stress from it. It's clear from
context both (a) that | am poking fun at the absurdity of things | have said in anger when | clearly value human
life enough that | am taking social distancing measures very seriously and (b) that Lola saw the humor in my
delivery.

BriAnna
101 TIOUIS. 1L LOUUK d wiEe W yeiL
motivated to do anything
useful.

® | would imagine so.

| suppose it depends on how
violent the murder is.




Figure 17: Texts from April 2nd indicating she wanted me to come to SLC.

BriAnna BriAnna

Apr 2, 2020, 12:30 PM
It's snowing. Fuck that.

A PAPERBACK PARADISE SCIENCEFICTION NOVEL

Right? It's the people and the

mountains in the summer.

Spring and fall here are also 12:51 PM
awesome. If | could move all

those things with me, | would.

Paperback Paradise on
It has largely become a non- Instagram: “back in

issue once | stopped having to stock”

dig out a car or drive in it ingt M. com

though. At this point | just want 55 PN

to wear shorts and skirts now. - R
Walked around in shorts for

hours Sunday.

®
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Figure 18: Texts from April 9th, saying her friend Jordan supports us getting together.

BriAnna

making things interesting even
to people with no serious
interest in the subject matter.
But my opinion might be
biased by wanting to fuck you.

FWIW, Jordan, who's my only
friend who is herself living
aloneg, is highly in favor of you
and | getting to the same

place. She's pretty sure she's
going to lose her mind soon.




Figure 19: Text from April 10th indicating that her friend Joel also supports us getting together.

BriAnna

On that note, | had virtual
lunch with my friend Joel, and
he's also very strongly on the
side of "get to the same
place". It's interesting how
much the overall opinion has
changed now that people get
that it's not just "wait the 2
weeks and this will all be over".

Excellent

Did you want to see if we can
mess it up again?

R

A )
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Figure 20: Texts from April 12th, telling me her family wants me to go to SLC to see her.

BriAnna

Apr 12, 2020, 11:53 AM

Coffee with my family went
well. They have changed their
tune as well and are now of the
opinion you should get yourself
here asap.

Ethan does. I'm not sure the
rest of them have caught on.

Apr12, 2020, 5:42 PN

Whole building alarm is going
off. Which means the last of
my pasta will be mushy when |
get back in there. @

A )
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BriAnna

Apr 14, 2020, 8:48 PM

Going to leave this call and call
you instead

o9 29 22 o2

Reread when you're in a better
state of mind, because it's
important: | don't work that
way. | have only ever walked
away from people who
abandoned me first, and even
then, after giving them years of
second chances, to a fault. |
always want to try to
communicate better. My
feelings don't go away. | still
love everyone I've ever loved,
even the ones who were
terrible to me and abandoned
me.

You have made me care very
deeply about you, and now I'm
stuck with that forever,
whether you a. stick around or
b never figure out how to be

o m €Cash ' ’[@j-\

Figure 21: Long text from April 14th saying how much she cares about me.

BriAnna

then, after giving them years of
second chances, to a fault. |
always want to try to
communicate better. My
feelings don't go away. | still
love everyone I've ever loved,
even the ones who were
terrible to me and abandoned
me.

You have made me care very
deeply about you, and now I'm
stuck with that forever,
whether you a. stick around or
b never figure out how to be
together or ¢ turn on me and
abandon me as well.

| physically hurt to know you're
hurting. | can't make up for all
the assholes in the world, but
you are definitely not alone.

Apr 15, 2020, 11:29 AM

o m ®Cash ‘ /[@j;




Figure 22: Text conversation on April 17 in which she helped me draft my response to the NASPA incident
report about the Facebook conversation with Darrell Day.

BriAnna

We'll have to go when the
world is real again

Apr 17, 2020, 8:19 PM

Will read momentarily.

Yeah... Definitely don't send
that. But | understand it's your
actual truth and how badly you
want to send it.

washingtonpost.com

Jesus. You should call me
when you get time.

BriAnna

| feel really good about that
version. Reads well, stays
within social norms, and shows
why you were moved to say
what you did. It doesn't hurt
your chances of them
dismissing the complaint, and
may actually help a bit by
showing that you said those
things out if concern for
human life you see as
threatened.




BriAnna

In unrelated matters, | drew
three s's and made the
strangest play of my life.

| would. | think it's correct now.

| like the postscript. | think that
also helps your chances of
them ignoring this.

% Sending virtual hugs (and
sympathetic rage). | need to

O~ @ &

BriAnna

sympathetic rage). | need to
figure out another food. The
grits and eggs aren't cutting it
and now the restaurants are
closed.

It does not. Sympathetic
satiety functions are offline.

Any time. @

Got it. | was thinking | couldn't
eat granola because I'm out of
almond milk... But | have
yogurt.




Figure 23: Texts from April 20th, talking about ordering a desk so that we would both have workspaces at her
apartment and showing that she had emptied closet space for me.

BriAnna

Apr 20, 2020, 12:37 PM

Did you wake up today?

You should probably get to
that.

The desk | ordered seems to
have been delivered to some
other building and FedEx
customer service is way

behind

They'll try to figure out where it
was delivered and get it back.

Gah.
 That's realy annoyind]|

It's very frustrating

o m €Cash ‘ ¢ E@j‘

BriAnna

Long term, it's a place to
sculpt and sew that isn't the
kitchen table.

But | certainly wanted it here
before you got here.

f]
e ||y ]| Y—| .
- ‘\\ “‘

s
/ﬂ 7

This part was completely on
your behalf. Closet space:



Figure 24: Texts from April 22nd, the day before | began the drive from Seattle to SLC.

BriAnna

facebook.com @

Apr 22,2020, 9:25 PM

Murder mystery trivia is very
fun

And I'm winning

They're going to play every
Wednesday. I'm off to bed
now. Not remotely worried
about falling asleep. Hope
you're in this bed with me
tomorrow, but in the meantime
| will definitely dream about

you @RS
e




Figure 25: Texts from June 29th, two weeks after we had stopped dating and she had returned to SLC from
Seattle. We were still on very good terms, and she is telling me about how she is using coffee beans that | had
bought her as a gift while she was in Seattle.

BriAnna

Random life betterment
advice: This is what I've been
doing with my bag of
Anchorhead, and it's amazing.
Using like 5 cups of water to a
cup of beans.

Cold-Brewed Iced Coffee
Recipe
cooking.nytimes.com

I'm brewing Anchorhead beans\ .
right this moment '

My phone can't seem to figure
out how to go from that link to
my New York Times app.
Frustrating

° (I\ #Cash { [@j




Figure 26: Texts from July 2nd where she compliments me on a Scrabble stream, three weeks after we had
stopped dating.

BriAnna

Jul 2, 2020, 6:56 PM

Sorry. | was looking forward to
it, but the day got away from
me. | will check it out later.

Jul 3, 2020, 4:27 AM

Just watched. That was pretty
great. Analysing past (real life)
games you've played from
when the world was real, in
Quackle or what not would be
equally educational. Thanks for
doing these!

Jul 3, 2020, 7:42 AM

o @ €Cash \.




Figure 27: Our “making distance” email exchange on July 24th. We had been texting regularly up until and
including July 23rd. We had a brief text exchange on July 27th just about whether she had accidentally taken a
phone charger from my place. But after that, per her wishes | did not contact her again for five months, until
Mina recommended that | did so.

Goodbye X & 2

aEw

@ Brianna McKissen [ Jul 24,2020, 423 AM Yy €

to me «

Dave,

So... | don't think you're actually in a place to be anyone's friend. At least with me, you use me as free therapy because you
need someone to talk about yourself to. I've tried to explain that friendships are two way things, and | don't feel like you're
ever willing to show any interest in my life or the things that are important to me. Friends offer support to each other. Friends
care about the things that the other person cares about because it's important to their friend.

I've tried to reiterate this on the phone a few times, but it's not getting through.

It's incredibly frustrating to know you know about what's happening with my sister, and it still doesn't even flicker as
something to check in on. It's incredibly frustrating when | try to talk about the things I'm excited about, like
Woogles/Macondo, and you immediately turn the conversation back to whether the people are talking about you.

I'm thoroughly exhausted.

Every time we talk | end up wondering if you even had any interest at me as a human being, as opposed to a tool that could
solve various needs you had... And | don't like feeling that way. | tend to find almost universally that if I'm a good friend to
people, that kindness is returned. You're altogether something else, and I'm done.

| hope it's just the dynamic we set up, and not something broken about you. | hope you don't make the other women you're
interested in now feel this way. | suspect the isolation over the last few years has made you incredibly self-centered.

At any rate, when you have things you need to talk at someone about, when you need someone to reassure you, and you
need someone to offer advice, | suggest you pay a therapist.

I'm not any angrier then I've ever been, and | don't hate you. But this is damaging me and my faith in humanity. | don't like
being awake all night being frustrated and annoyed, wondering what happened to the good moed | had all day. | won't be
coming to game night anymore, and | won't be answering the phone when you call for guite some time.

Please take care of yourself,
BriAnna



Dave Koenio 126,200,612 Fr &

1o Bridnna -

I'm sorry, BriAnna. | leaned on you too heavily and wasn't able to give your problems enough of my thought and attention. |
am sorry that your sister is having such a bad time and that it is hurting yoeu so much. | am starting with my old therapist
again in a week, and | agree that | should be relying more on him than on my friends for things like that.

I'm very thankful that you helped me through a very dark time. And | hope that me bringing you into the Macondo/Woogles
project is going to bring other good things into your life. | totally get you needing to make some distance from me right now,
and | respect you telling me in a straightforward way.

| don't know how much better things can get with your sister. When | have heard you talk about it, it sounds like a pretty
hopeless situation. But | hope you find a way to get peace with where things are at, even if you can't change it. And | hope
you can find the friends you need to hear what you're going through in the ways you need where | have failed you.

With love,
Dave

On Jul 24, 2020, at 4:23 AM, BriAnna McKissen _wrate:



Figure 28: Email chain with Lola on December 11th, precipitated by Mina Le’s play reading that we were both
attending and Mina’s recommendation that | contact Lola.

o pave Koenig [N Dec11,2020, 456 PM  ty €}

to Bridnna -

Hi BriAnna,

It's difficult for me to know how to begin a conversation with you. The last time you wrote to me you said you didn't want to talk to me for
a while, because as you rightly pointed cut | was taking a lot more than | was giving, and it was exhausting you. | want to respect your
desire for distance, and | wouldn't be contacting you now if | didn't think it was important that we talked.

| know that you blocked me on Facebook and Instagram a few months ago, and I'm fairly sure of what precipitated that. Chel had
blocked me shortly before that and posted things on Facebook with heinous allegations that | was a rapist. | was aware that this
happened shortly after Chel did this, and I've gotten some indications through other sources about some of what Chel said, but | still
have never been able to see the full extent of what was alleged about me.

What pieces | know of what Chel alleged are categorically false. It's not even a question of gray area and different people's
interpretations of ambiguous events. The story was a complete fabrication by a jealous ex-boyfriend of a woman with whom | had a
consensual sexual relationship with over the course of several months in 2014. Furthermore, this man, who is very autistic and has lots
of other personal issues, sent me a text message out of the blue making physical threats on me. The very first thing | did was to send
his text message to the woman to let her know what he said. She told him that | did nothing to hurt her, and then he said that it didn't
matter, claiming that | had done things to “other women" although who these other women were was never specified.

| still have the text message from him and email exchange with her that proves all of this beyond any shadow of a doubt. | am the only
victim in this story. This man called me a rapist and threatened violence on me, and the enly woman he named explicitly denied the
charge. There literally is no female victim, alleged or otherwise. Unfortunately, this man was very connected with a lot of the karacke
community in DC, and | believed that there was no way to deal with this situation head-on that would not have made things worse. So |
decided to be the bigger man and walk away. | stopped associating with that man, that woman, and virtually the entire karacke scene
that | had been hanging out with in DC for several years before that.

| believe that Chel knows this man through other karacke circles, and he told her these heinous allegations about me, which she started
blasting on social media. | had already decided a long time ago that | didn't need that particular community in my life, and | wasn't going
to fight against or deal with their terrible misperceptions of me. However, because of the friendship | made with Chel and the way |
connected her to other friends of mine in our online gaming group, she has started spreading these false allegations to other friends of
mine beyond my old karaoke circles, which has been hurtful to me.

I've had extended conversations with Charley and with Mina and César explaining much more detail of the story I've outlined above. By
far the most damage that Chel and this man have done in my life by spreading these false allegations about me is in my relationships
with two people, you and Maya. | have felt distraught for the last few months that this hand grenade was thrown into my relationships
with both of you, and that | have not known how to have a productive conversation to move things to a better place.

| still care about you deeply and consider you a beloved friend, even if you do not want to talk to me anymore. | want to respect
whatever need for distance you have, but you have entered my circle of friends through your invalvement with Woogles. Mina talked to
me about the Arcadia event she is planning and told me that you had signed up for it too. We both thought it was a good idea for me to
try to have a conversation with you ahead of time. She and Cesar know that you have blocked me on social media and that | am
concerned about my relationship with you.

| 'would very much like to talk to you to sort this out, but in the end this is in your hands. | hope dearly that you are healthy and happy,
and that your life and relationships with your family and everyone else around you are going well.

Sincerely,
Dave



&

BriAnna McKissen
fome -

Dec 11,2020, 5:24PM ¥ Lot

sss

No, | blocked you because | saw a screenshot Seth Lipkin posted with the actual text of what you said to Darrell Day. It upset me more
than | can describe, and | felt really bad about helping you defend it to NASPA, despite knowing they also didn't get the actual text.

This was on top of the realization we discussed before that: that our friendship is completely ene sided, and does net benefit me. As a
result, | chose to minimize your presence in my life. | do this because it adds stress to my life every time we interact, and | end up angry
again that | put so much energy into trying to help someone who showed no interest in my well being — not because of whatever
anyone else thinks or says about you.

| know that | can not minimize it to zero. We have more overlapping friends now, and | have too much peer pressure to quit Scrabble
again this time. Because Mina posted her "cast signups" | saw that you had also joined that group. | am okay with that.

| am not really interested in talking on the phone to you at this time. | will however unblock you as to minimize weird confusion in things
like us both commenting on a friend's post. | am also okay with you emailing me when you feel it's necessary, like now.

We are not enemies, and you don't need to worry about things like the play reading group, or Woogles, or tournaments if that ever is a
thing again. We are also not friends.

BriAnna

Ty

Davexaenig_ Dec 11,2020, 531 PM 7 & :

to Bridnna -

Thank you, BriAnna,

| appreciate your response. | am sorry that reading my words to Darrell Day upset you. | don't understand what you said about NASPA.
To my knowledge they did get complete screenshots of the discussion that Darrell and | had.

You're free to judge me however you want about my words to Darrell. But | do want you to know that | was not attempting to deceive
you about what happened in any way.

| will continue to like you and be grateful for the ways in which you have been a positive force in my life, even if you don't want to be
friends. | wish you the best.

Sincerely,
Dave

e

BriAnnaMcKisSen_ Dec 11,2020,5:38PM  ¥¢ & H

tome w

Thanks. | also wish you well. | forwarded back the email you sent me for your reference.

Ty



Figure 29: After no text conversation between us since July 2020, our only communication was the email
conversation on December 11, 2020, until Lola initiated contact by gifting me a subscription on Twitch, which
led to our February 12, 2021, conversation over the first eight and a half screenfuls here. (Of note, she
revealed she was living in Florida, while | had already been living in Portland, Oregon for four months.) Then
we exchanged compliments about our contributions to a play reading organized by Mina Le on February 27.
This was the last dialogue we had over text message.

BriAnna

Feb 12, 2021, 6:38 PM

No problem. They're
somewhat random when you
decide to gift a pack of
subscriptions but | think the
algorithm gives them to people
who it detects have been
supportive of the streamer
(Will in this case). It doesn't
do too much. You get access
to Will's emojis and some extra
perks in his channel, but most
importantly, he gets a cut.

BriAnna

Pretty good. My friend 's
dad has a 4 story beach house
in Florida so I'm here with him
(and two giant dogs | can
cuddle) for a month and | have
the top floor to myself. When
my lease is up in July I'm going
to start doing the digital
nomad thing. I'm excited. It's a
life | thought I'd have to wait
until retirement for. Between
that and Woogles this year has
turned out pretty good for me.
(Thank you for your part in
getting me back into
Scrabble.)

Yeah thisis kind of a resort

O - @&
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BriAnna BriAnna

Yeah, this is kind of a resort
town. So it's pretty quiet and

empty.

Thanks for asking.

Yeah. | know you were

And you
mentioned

Glad
How's yours?

Lol.
though, right?




| believe 7:35 PN Likely not yet. This (texting
with you on rare occasion,
playing on Woogles, Fake
Community Theater,
occasional chat on Twitch) is
the full extent of how ready |
am to be friends with you again
just yet. | can probably send
you screenshots of what | built
and my templates in a few
days if that helps at all. It was
very fun to get it all set up, and
| do believe way more Scrabble
on Twitch is good for the
world, from all levels. I'm
terrified to start streaming
tomorrow since | don't think
my content will be very
valuable to the existing Twitch
Scrabble viewership, but | think
it's important in the long run,
and I'm excited about people
seeing the graphic design part.

(2,)
O = @ 5 @ =

BriAnna

Aw, thanks.




BriAnna BriAnna
goling Lo pe norriic. vy AU IS
bad enough without an
audience. | tried talking aloud
to myself while playing Hasty
and ended up playing 4 stupid
phonies. Which | guess taught
| figured 3 me a lesson that if | say a
phony out loud it seems more
reasonable to me than if I'm
just looking at it. "Is it
*ADENTAL? Sure, that sounds
real. *DENTALA? Sure, that
sounds real." Never found
LANATED, and | am pretty sure
| would have if | weren't talking
aloud.

Not sure if you're following me.
It's icallmelola. It'll be at 1 EST.
Want to babble about study
tools and show some of the
features of Woogles for an
hour before | actually try to
play while streaming. Which is
going to be horrific. My ADD is

O~ @ = O




BriAnna

| would have if | weren't talking
aloud.

Feb 27, 2021, 7:24 PM

Aw, thanks. Looking forward to
watching the replay. Thanks for
getting the twitch stream to
work.

o @ %Cash ( ’C@j:




Figure 30: The last time | reached out to Lola via text message was on May 2nd, 2021, checking whether she
wanted to meet in SLC during a business trip | might make. She did not respond, and | never texted her again.

BriAnna

May 2, 2021, 11:42 AM




Figure 31: On August 4th, 2021, | accidentally came across this Instagram account which Lola made that
showed she was living in Portland. The short conversation we had here is the last conversation we have ever
had, except for our brief interactions in-person at the New Orleans Scrabble tournament in January 2022.

T

3:59 .

S O

ol (c)

3:59 .

S O

< G Lola McKissen

) Message...

Lola McKissen
- Instagram

View profile

AUG 4, 1:50 AM

| don't want to be intrusive, but
Instagram just recommended this
account. You're living in Portland?
Welcome to town!

AUG 5, 2:50 PM

Thanks. With my childhood
history, | am not really mentally
stable enough to have friends with
bullying/anger issues. | just get
sucked in and overly identify and
placate and get stressed out. The
last time | tried, you kinda took
over my Twitch chat and made
that too stressful for me. |
understand that your intent was to
be supportive and friendly, and my
reaction is MY crazy. | really hope
you are doing well, and that you
can respect and accept that | can
not have you in my life (with the

IAlvA AATAA~ A
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account. You're living in Portland?
Welcome to town!

AUG 5, 2:50 PM

Thanks. With my childhood
history, | am not really mentally
stable enough to have friends with
bullying/anger issues. | just get
sucked in and overly identify and
placate and get stressed out. The
last time | tried, you kinda took
over my Twitch chat and made
that too stressful for me. |
understand that your intent was to
be supportive and friendly, and my
reaction is MY crazy. | really hope
you are doing well, and that you
can respect and accept that | can
not have you in my life (with the
understanding we're going to
overlap over the years on mutual
friends and Scrabble.)

-

Thank you for what you said. |
wish you peace

-

) Message...




Figure 32: Snippet of email from Walker Willingham on June 17, 2018, revealing that Evans had publicly called
me “an awful, awful human being.”

@b walker Willingham [ Jun 17, 2018, 10:07 PM

fome «

wo o i

Hi Dave,

| really appreciate your clarifications here, and thank you also for your acknowledgement that my taking this on was emotional labor for me. | hadn't
thought of it in those terms exactly, but that's a very good descriptor.

| had a similar

internal reaction when | overheard Evans talking to someone else in a public setting that you were "an awful, awful human being.” It was especially
jarring because it seemed out of character for Evans, and it sticks the listener in the uncomiortable position of wondering "is there really something
that bad?" Evans' comment was worse because it was stated so publicly. It may have made me wonder what it was about you, but it certainly
redounded poerly on Evans in my eyes. Central to my terrible judgment of 45, known to me as "his heinousness" is his incessant bad mouthing of

anyone who might throw him in a bad light, and he consistently inaccurately accuses people of terrible attributes of which HE is so obviously guilty.
Anyway, you get it.

Your Scrabble friend,

Walker



Figure 33: Facebook comment from Brian Bowman on July 16, 2020, shortly after the publication of the
splenetic.net blog, saying that he knew Evans had been disparaging me for years.

Brian Bowman

| had to laugh when | saw this, because Chris,
Evans, and a number of people who liked this are
or were members of a secret Facebook group
where people shared hurtful gossip about the
affairs of Scrabble players, including Dave. [Edit:
since a couple of people have tried to 'set the
record straight' for me, this group is not Twizted,
which is relatively accessible, but a more vicious
offshot of that group] The deck was stacked
against Dave well before any of the events in
question occurred.

Reading Dave's posts, it broke my heart a bit to
see him confiding in people who | knew were
going to immediately report to Evans, probably in
a slanted way. [Edit: And this would be done
before an audience of well-connected NASPA
members who were also unsympathetic to Dave
before any of the events of this story] And it
pissed me off a little to see Jennifer claim that
Dave was "actively disparaging" her and hurting
her reputation when | knew that Evans at least
had been doing that to Dave for years.

Like Reply 1y Edited @D




Figure 34: Facebook comment from Winter on July 16, 2020, shortly after the publication of the splenetic.net
blog, saying that he also knew Jennifer and/or Evans were disparaging me.

Martin DeMello

for what it's worth that has been my experience
too; in all the years that I've known Jen and Evans
| have not heard them say a single thing against
or even about Dave. and likewise | was around for
the starting of coco and my perceptions align
with Melissa's.

Like Reply 1y

Winter

| know for a fact (because | was in the room
where it happened) that Martin is mistaken (not in
his experience, but his level of knowledge), and |
have posted what happened on my own timeline

earlier this year, so I'm not going to rehash it here.
i 2

Like Reply 1y" Edited



Figure 35: Facebook comment from Shelley Stevens on July 15, 2020, shortly after the publication of the
splenetic.net blog, saying that she personally witnessed Jennifer and Evans badmouthing me at a dinner.

Shelley Stevens
Cecilia Le have you ever been ghosted or

heartbroken? Have you ever been in an
uncomfortable situation with another person in
your community that you KNOW FOR A FACT is
badmouthing you to mutual friends and making
things awkward?

| have.

It sucks and at least he is owning up to his own
part in all of it. Emotions sometimes drive people
to do unstable things, but | can tell you that even

as a tangential member of this community, | am
personally sympathetic to what he's going
through, mainly because | barely know Jevans
and | have heard them badmouth him and | knew
there was some sort of issue after having like one
dinner with them once. (I didn't pry and can't
remember specifics because | try to avoid drama)

So, clearly if they are going to get to sway
everyone's opinion of him, surely at some point
he is allowed to get off the high road and prove
his case?




Figure 36: Contradicting Jennifer’s statement, “/ attempted to end my informal relationship with Dave on at
least five occasions, the last attempt being in person in September 2016,” she eagerly kept up text
communication with me throughout October 2016. Here are snippets of text conversations showing that she
initiated the conversation on October 2nd, 8th, 15th, 16th, 18th, 29th, and 31st, including asking me to get
together to play Scrabble on the 18th. This also corroborates that she sent me a birthday gift that month.

Jennifer

Good morning! Weird question:
would you like a sonicare
toothbrush? | bought a new
one to replace my dying one,
but this model has a bigger
brush handle and it's too big
for my hand to hold
comfortably. | can't return it.
Would you like it?

No thank you, | used to use
one of those and prefer a
regular toothbrush

| got the gift this morning.
Thank you! I've been wanting
to read Joel's book!

Good timing, too. | needed
more reading material for my

o /I\ &Cash -]‘ [@j

»

° (I\ %Cash ij C@j

Jennifer

flights to and from Chicago
this weekend. I'm going to see
the Cubs playoff game
tomorrow night with Jeremy
Cahnmann

Awesome!

Let me know what you think of
the book. | am curious to read
it, too.

And tell Jeremy | say hello

Will do, on both counts

Happy birthday!
Thank you, Jenn @

It's too bad you couldn't play
today. We're odd again.

How was your weekend with




Jennifer
VIl allu JITTY 11UV, JUUU TIYIIL,

and | hope things get better.

Thanks and good night

ERSSSTY

STRESSY

Seems fitting that | would miss
this rack

Instress

Jennifer

Friday evening Brent and zach
are coming over for scrabble.
Are you around? We are
looking for a fourth

Tournament is Saturday
morning, right?

Yes. They are both playing so
we won't be up late

Yeah, but | don't know if | really
want to wear myself out
playing after work if I'm playing
in the tourney the next
morning. Still getting over this
cold.

Looks like Bethesda is even
now. Probably doesn't make
sense for me to join late and
make it odd. particularlv if I'm




Jennifer

I'm at Lego Land with my
family. And it's reminding me
of why I'm glad | don't have
kids. How's your weekend?

el 2=
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I've now seen 2 of the 3
existing space shuttles. | really
want to see the third one now
so | can catch them all. Like
Pokémon. | bought a really cool
patch from this one's museum.

Nice! This is in Seattle?

O®— @& s




The remaining screenshots are from the splenetic.net blog. They are just here to save readers the time of
searching through the blog for them.

Figure 37: My apology email to Jennifer on September 17, 2018, in response to her email banning me from the
2019 Hood River tournament, the only time | have made a personal communication to her since January 5th,
2017.

Dave Koenig Sep 17,2018, 549PM  §r 4= :
to Jennifer, Evans ~

Jennifer,

Thank you for taking the time to write this out and give me this explanation. To put your mind at ease in one way immediately: | have no
desire to escalale this to NASPA, and | respect your decision.

Let me get right to the heart of the matter.

| stepped over the line when | wrole the following two sentences: “So if you do not meet with me before New Orleans, | will say what |
need to say to you directly to your face across the Scrabble board in the tournament room with all the other players able to hear. | am
almost certain that if that happens you will regret not having had this conversation in private.”

| was under a lot of emotional stress at the time that | sent that email, and as often happens in distressed situations, | was much more
focused on my emotional needs than the impact of my words upon you. | know it may be hard to reconcile, but | did not intend to threaten
you at the time that | wrote that. However, in retrospect it is obvious to me how those words come across as threatening. My mental state
at the time seriously impaired my judgment. | am saying this not to defend my bahavior at all, but only to explain that the words came out
of a mental state that | was in a year and threa quarters ago that is not at all whare | am at now. | was wrong, and | am truly sorry.

Sincerely,
Dave

Figure 38: Snippet from previous draft of the September 17, 2018 apology letter. | never sent this to Jennifer,
but only to Chris Lipe and Jeremy Cahnmann. It is contemporaneous evidence that my intention in submitting
the entry fee for the 2019 Hood River tournament was only to give Evans and Jennifer an opportunity to
express their grievances. (Relevant section highlighted. Full screenshot of email is at

https://splenetic.net/the-fallout/#figure10 )
Jennifer,

Thank you for taking the time to write this out and give me this explanation. | am not cartain how much of what you wrote here you actually
believe, and how much what you have written is just what you feel you have to say, to be consistent with the case you would make to
NASPA if | were to challenge your decision on this. But let me put your mind at ease in one way immediately: | have no desire to escalate
this to NASPA, and | respect your decision. | don't even really care about whether | go to this lournament or nol; what is much more
important is resolving the tension in this situation,

| do not have any problem with you or Evans. It is only the two of you who have a problem with me. | completely understand how the two
of you have gotten to the point of having the interpretations and feelings that you do, but since neither of you has been willing to
communicate with me for the last year and three quarters, you have given me no opportunity to comrect the situation. As such, | have felt
that the best | can do is just continuing living my life, playing Scrabble, and ignoring your behaviors and the fact that you have been afraid
of me and Evans has visually and viscerally hated me ever since January of 2017.

| signed up for this toumament, not oul of any desire to make life difficult for the two of you, bul simply because it is what | would have
done if you two were not behaving the way you were, and | thought it might provide an opportunity for you to actually address your
problems with me. | am glad that you have done so.


https://splenetic.net/the-fallout/#figure10

